Case No. SC05-1247
Lower Tribunal Case No. 4D04--219

**SUPREME COURT
FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA**

BETZAIDA FONTE

Plaintiff - Appellant

v.

AT&T WIRELESS SERVICES, INC.

Defendant – Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA
FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AND
THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE 15TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

SECOND CORRECTED JURISDICTION BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**STUEVE SIEGEL HANSON
WOODY LLP**
George A. Hanson
Amy E. Bauman
330 W. 47th Street, Suite 250
Kansas City, Missouri 64112
PH: (816) 714-7100
FAX: (816) 714-7101

SCHOEPPL & BURKE, P.A.
Carl F. Schoepl
Florida Bar No. 818518
4651 North Federal Highway
Boca Raton, Florida 33431

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 28, 2002, Plaintiff/Appellant Betzaida Fonte (“Fonte”) purchased wireless service offered by Defendant/Appellee AT&T Wireless Services, Inc. (“AT&T”) from Alpha Cellular. (App. at 1). As part of the purchase, Plaintiff signed a two-year Personal Service Agreement with AT&T. (App. at 1). The Agreement states in part:

This Agreement hereby incorporates by reference the Terms and Conditions and other information set forth in the AT&T Wireless Welcome Guide . . . the Rate Plan brochure and/or feature or promotional materials (collectively, “Sales Information”) that you were provided . . . By signing below you acknowledge that you have received and reviewed the Terms and Conditions and Sales Information and that you agree to be bound by such Terms and Conditions and the Sales Information for the term of your Agreement.

(App. at 1).

In the “AT&T Wireless Welcome Guide,” which was a separate document, there was an arbitration clause contained in a section called “Terms and Conditions” at page 32 of the guide. (App. at 2). The arbitration clause stated, in relevant part:

. . . Any dispute or claim made by you against us (or against any of our subsidiary, parent or affiliate companies) arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the Service or any equipment used in connection with the Service (whether based in contract, tort, statute, fraud, misrepresentation or any other legal theory) will be resolved by binding arbitration except that (1) you may take claims to small claims court if they qualify for hearing by such a court, or (2) you or we may choose to pursue claims in court if the claims relate solely to the collection of any debts you owe to us. However, even for those

claims that may be taken to court, you and we both waive any claims for punitive damages and any right to pursue claims on a class representative basis.

. . . . By this agreement, both you and we are waiving certain rights to litigate disputes in court. If for any reason this arbitration clause is deemed inapplicable or invalid, you and we both waive, to the fullest extent allowed by law, any claims to recover punitive or exemplary damages and any right to pursue any claims on a class or consolidated basis or in a representative capacity.

(App. at 2).

On September 26, 2002, Fonte filed a Class Action Complaint against AT&T, alleging breach of contract, fraud and violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”). (App. at 3). On November 25, 2003, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing on AT&T’s Motion to Stay Case and Compel Arbitration (“Motion to Compel”). (App. at 3-4). The trial court granted AT&T’s Motion to Compel and adopted in large part AT&T’s proposed order, finding that the challenged provisions were not procedurally or substantively unconscionable. (App. at 4).

On appeal, the Florida District Court of Appeal for the Fourth Circuit reversed in part and affirmed in part. The court held that the arbitration clause’s bar on attorneys fees defeated a remedial purpose of the FDUTPA and instructed the trial court on remand to sever the clause. (App. at 5-6). The court then addressed whether the arbitration clause was unconscionable. The court found that “AT&T had almost unilateral bargaining power” and that the underlying contract

was an “adhesion contract.” (App. at 7). However, the court determined that because the procedural irregularities were not sufficient on their own to set aside the arbitration clause, “we need not address substantive unconscionability.” (App. at 9). The court concluded that the arbitration clause was not unconscionable. *Id.*

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Fonte requests that the Court exercise its discretion and entertain this case on the merits, because the district court of appeal’s decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on a question of law. Specifically, the court of appeal’s decision conflicts with *Romano ex rel. Romano v. Manor Care, Inc.*, 861 So.2d 59 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), which held that the issue of unconscionability requires a “balancing approach” in that “[t]he more substantively oppressive the contract term, the less evidence of procedural unconscionability is required to come to the conclusion that the term is unenforceable, and vice versa.” *Id.* When there is a substantial level of substantive unconscionability, procedural unconscionability may be found if “there is *some irregularity in the contract formation . . .*” *Id.* (emphasis added). By refusing to address the issue of substantive unconscionability, the appellate court failed to engage in the “balancing approach” prescribed by *Romano*. The issue is of particular importance to consumers in the state of Florida, because the enforcement of a one-sided, adhesion contract that bans class action relief and

punitive damages would effectively deny many Florida consumers any practical option for obtaining relief for deceptive business practices.

ARGUMENT

THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER COMPELLING ARBITRATION WITHOUT ADDRESSING THE SUBSTANTIVE UNCONSCIONABILITY OF THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE BECAUSE THE PROPER STANDARD FOR DETERMINING UNCONSCIONABILITY REQUIRES A BALANCING OF PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE CONCERNS.

The validity of an arbitration clause is an issue of state contract law. *Powertel, Inc. v. Bexley*, 743 So.2d 570, 574 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). “[G]enerally applicable contract defenses, such as fraud, duress or unconscionability, may be applied to invalidate arbitration agreements without contravening the Federal Arbitration Act.” *Id.*, citing *Doctor's Associates, Inc. v. Casarotto*, 517 U.S. 681, 687 (1996). Courts may properly decline to enforce a contract on the ground that it is procedurally and substantively unconscionable. *Romano*, 861 So.2d at 62. Procedural unconscionability “relates to the manner in which the contract was entered and it involves consideration of such issues as the relative bargaining power of the parties and their ability to know and understand the disputed contract terms.” *Bellsouth Mobility LLC v. Christopher*, 819 So.2d 171, 173 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), quoting *Powertel*, 743 So.2d at 574. Substantive unconscionability focuses

on the agreement itself and looks to whether the terms of the contract are unreasonable and unfair. *Id.*

The question of unconscionability requires a “balancing approach.” *Romano*, 861 So.2d at 62. “[T]o tip the scales in favor of unconscionability, most courts seem to require a certain quantum of procedural plus a certain quantum of substantive unconscionability.” *Id.* The amount of either may vary. “[T]he more substantively oppressive the contract term, the less evidence of procedural unconscionability is required to come to the conclusion that the term is unenforceable, and vice versa.” *Id.*

The appellate court addressed the underlying process but not the substance of the arbitration clause. After finding that procedural unconscionability, standing alone, was insufficient to set aside the arbitration clause, the court held that “as we have found a lack of procedural unconscionability, which is necessary before we could decline to enforce a contract as unconscionable, we need not address substantive unconscionability.” (App. at 9). Treating the issue of substantive unconscionability as an afterthought is contrary to the framework set forth in *Romano*.

In *Romano*, the husband and guardian of a nursing home resident filed a claim against a nursing home for deprivation of the resident's rights as set forth under a Florida statute. The nursing home moved to compel arbitration pursuant to

the arbitration agreement signed by the husband after his wife's admission to the home. The trial court determined that the parties had entered into a valid arbitration agreement. The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed, holding that the arbitration clause was unconscionable. *Id.* at 63.

The court first addressed substantive unconscionability, holding that the arbitration agreement unfairly and unreasonably denied the plaintiff her legal right to recover punitive damages, equitable relief and fees. *Id.* The court then turned to the issue of procedural unconscionability. The agreement was not “hidden in the fine print” but included as a six-page, stand alone contract. The first page of the agreement stated that it contained a waiver of statutory rights. The administrator who supervised the signing of the agreement gave each document to the husband to sign but did not attempt to explain any of the terms used in the documents.

The court noted that although the husband owned his own business, he and his wife were “elderly” and “there was no showing that he had legal training to understand the rights he was signing away for his wife.” *Id.* Moreover, although the husband or his wife could cancel the agreement within three days of its signing, the documents were provided to the husband one day after his wife had been admitted to the facility. The court concluded that the ages of the resident and her husband, coupled with the circumstances under which the agreement was signed, established procedural unconscionability. *Id.*

The *Romano* case illustrates the proper framework for determining the unconscionability of arbitration clauses. As here, the arbitration clause required that customers waive specific legal remedies. The appellate court specifically held that the contract was one of “adhesion” in that Fonte had almost no bargaining power. (App. at 7). Moreover, the high level of substantive unconscionability meant that a lesser amount of “degree” of “irregularity” was required to justify a conclusion that the arbitration clause was unenforceable. *Id.* By refusing to address the issue of substantive unconscionability, the appellate court’s opinion directly conflicts with *Romano*’s holding that both procedural and substantive irregularities must be balanced to determine whether the arbitration clause is unconscionable.

The issue is one of particular importance for consumers in the state of Florida. Fonte alleges that after she purchased wireless telephone service from AT&T, the company began charging her for busy or unanswered calls, including those that lasted longer than thirty seconds, and overcharging her for directory assistant calls. (App. at 3-4). The value of an individual claim in this case, like most consumer suits, is so small that if the claims are required to be arbitrated individually, it is likely that few, if any, claims would be pursued. If AT&T were permitted to enforce a ban on class actions, the likelihood that any claim would be pursued against it or against other businesses in the state of Florida would be

slight. AT&T would be avoiding responsibility for its unlawful and deceptive policies and practices. This is contrary to the spirit and purpose of the FDUTPA and the Florida class action rule, and should be rejected.

Moreover, the allegations in this case are precisely the type of consumer claims that are ripe for class action relief. There are numerous common issues of law to members of the putative class, including whether AT&T breached its Agreements with class members by charging them for unconnected and busy calls longer than thirty seconds and whether AT&T's unilateral Agreement change, charging customers for unconnected and busy calls longer than thirty seconds, is an unfair practice under consumer protection statutes. AT&T's practices were consistently applied to all members of the putative class, defined as all customers of AT&T as of July 31, 2002.

AT&T is attempting to use federal and state policy favoring arbitration to force consumers into unfair, unconscionable contracts that ban all class action relief. Yet it is not arbitration that AT&T wants; it is the systemic destruction of customers' remedies and rights through arbitration clauses buried in fine print, in form contracts, and offered without negotiation or explanation. Arbitration is simply the vehicle through which AT&T hopes to realize this goal. Fonte asks that the Court reject AT&T's efforts to inoculate itself from liability and entertain the case on its merits.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Fonte respectfully requests that the Court exercise its discretion and entertain the merits of the case on appeal.