IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

BETZAIDA FONTE, Plaintiff-Petitioner,

vs.

AT&T WIRELESS SERVICES, INC., Defendant-Respondent.

CASE NO. SC 5-1247

LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. 4D04-219

**RESPONDENT AT&T WIRELESS SERVICES, INC.'S**  
**BRIEF ON JURISDICTION**

DAVID P. ACKERMAN  
Florida Bar No. 374350  
GLORY P. ROSS  
Florida Bar No. 0582506

ACKERMAN, LINK & SARTORY, P.A.  
Attorneys for Respondent  
AT&T Wireless Services, Inc.  
222 Lakeview Avenue, Suite 1250  
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401  
(561) 838-4100  
(561) 838-5301 (fax)

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

This case involves the enforceability of an arbitration clause in a contract for wireless services. Ms. Fonte purchased a cellular phone and wireless service through an AT&T Wireless authorized dealer. (App. 1). At the time she purchased the phone, she entered into an arbitration agreement. (App. 2).

Approximately eight months after purchasing the wireless services, Ms. Fonte filed a purported class action against AT&T Wireless alleging breach of contract, fraud, and a violation of The Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act ("FDUTPA") based on two relatively small rate changes. (App. 3). In response, AT&T Wireless filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration. (App. 3-4). The trial court held an evidentiary hearing, made detailed findings of fact and conclusions of

law, and granted AT&T Wireless' Motion. (App. 4). Ms. Fonte appealed the trial court's Order to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, making the same arguments she makes in her Jurisdiction Brief. (App. 4).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal engaged in a detailed and thorough review of the trial court's Order. Since the issue presented a mixed question of law and fact, the Fourth District reviewed the trial court's factual findings to determine whether they were supported by competent, substantial evidence and engaged in a de novo review of the trial court's application of the law.

The Fourth District reversed in part and affirmed in part. (App. 9). The Fourth District held that a provision in the agreement prohibiting any award of attorneys' fees under FDUTPA was void. (App. 5). Based on a severability clause in the Agreement, however, the Fourth District held that the provision could be severed from the rest of the Agreement without affecting the intent of the parties to arbitrate. (App. 5). The Fourth District next reviewed the facts found by the trial court in its unconscionability analysis and agreed that there was an absence of procedural unconscionability. (App. 7). The Fourth District held that Ms. Fonte's reliance on *Romano v. Manor Care, Inc.*, 861 So. 2d

59 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) and *Powertel, Inc. v. Bexley*, 743 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), was "misplaced" because both cases were distinguishable on the facts. (App. 7-8). The Fourth District affirmed the trial court and ordered that the parties shall proceed to arbitration. (App. 9).

The Fourth District's opinion did not announce new law and did not contain any language suggesting a conflict between its decision and any other cases. The court applied well-established principles of appellate review and clearly explained the factual distinctions between the facts of this case and the cases relied on by Ms. Fonte. The Fourth District did not certify any questions as being of great public importance. In fact, at no point during or after the appeal did Ms. Fonte even request that the Fourth District certify the matter as one of great importance. The time in which Ms. Fonte could do so has now lapsed.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Petitioner's Brief fails to address the single issue before this Court at this time: Jurisdiction. Instead of addressing the jurisdictional basis for Supreme Court review, as required by the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner simply rehashes the same merits arguments that were made during the proceedings before the Fourth District Court

of Appeal and argues that the Fourth District erred in affirming the trial court's Order compelling arbitration.

This Court's jurisdiction is strictly prescribed by Article V of the Florida Constitution. Without a constitutional basis for review, this Court cannot and should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction. First, there can be no conflict jurisdiction in this case because the decision under review by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, on its face, does not expressly or directly conflict with any decision from another district court of appeal or of this Court on the same question of law. The case relied on by Ms. Fonte to establish conflict, *Romano v. Manor Care, Inc.*, 861 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 4th DCA 200), is also from the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the court that issued the opinion at issue. Even accepting Ms. Fonte's arguments as true, this would form the basis for an "intradistrict" conflict and this Court does not have discretionary jurisdiction over intradistrict conflicts.

Second, as for Ms. Fonte's claim that this case presents an issue of great public importance, discretionary review is not appropriate because the Fourth District did not certify the question under review as one of great public importance. At no point did Ms. Fonte even request that the issue be



certified. Finally, Ms. Fonte's remaining arguments based upon general public policy do not give rise to discretionary jurisdiction under the Florida Constitution. Ms. Fonte has failed to establish any type of jurisdictional basis for discretionary review of this appeal and therefore her petition should be dismissed.

**ARGUMENT**

**I. Petitioner's Brief Does Not Address A Constitutional Basis for the Exercise of this Court's Discretionary Jurisdiction**

Petitioner's Second Corrected Jurisdiction Brief fails to establish any grounds for this Court's jurisdiction. Instead, Ms. Fonte attempts to re-argue the merits of the case - an effort wholly out of place in this posture. She argues that the Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the trial court's Order by failing to adequately consider substantive unconscionability. Ms. Fonte is requesting certiorari review of the Fourth District's opinion without providing this Court with a proper jurisdictional basis.

This Court's jurisdiction is strictly prescribed by Article V of the Florida Constitution. The categories of jurisdiction set out in Article V are the sole and only bases for approaching this Court for certiorari review of the District Courts of Appeal. See *Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v.*

*Little River Bank & Trust Co.*, 243 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1970). Ms. Fonte's Brief fails to show the existence of any conflict or other constitutional ground which would entitle this Court to discretionary jurisdiction. In the absence of a clear jurisdictional basis, there is no right to a "second appeal." The Fourth District's decision was final and this finality cannot be circumvented by a further appeal or certiorari. See generally *Griffin v. State*, 367 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); *Vetrick v. Hollander*, 464 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1985) (without jurisdictional basis, petition for discretionary review must be dismissed because Supreme Court of Florida does not have common law certiorari jurisdiction).

Ms. Fonte took full advantage of her opportunity to appeal the trial court's ruling. The Fourth District engaged in a thorough analysis of the case and applied well-established Florida law. In *City of Jacksonville v. Florida First National Bank of Jacksonville*, 339 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1976), the Court stated:

The absence of a jurisdictional foundation for our review in this case is not a mere technicality. It is a matter of constitutional significance. In this case, the First District Court of Appeal did a thorough and thoughtful job of analyzing Florida case law in order to apply it to the facts of a particular controversy before it. This is precisely what the framers of Article V and the people of

Florida expect district court judges to do.

*Id.* at 634. Similar to the petitioner in *City of Jacksonville*, Ms. Fonte received a thorough and thoughtful analysis of her case. Without a constitutional basis, she is not entitled to Supreme Court review.

**II. The Decision Under Review Does Not Expressly and Directly Conflict (and Petitioner Does Not Even Argue That It Conflicts) With a Decision from Another District Court of Appeal or of this Court on the Same Question of Law; Therefore Conflict Jurisdiction Does Not Exist.**

Article V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution permits the exercise of discretionary jurisdiction only where the decision under review "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of **another district court of appeal** or of this Court on the same question of law." Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) (emphasis added). This Court does not have jurisdiction because Ms. Fonte has failed to point to a decision of **another** district court of appeal or of this Court that is in express or direct conflict with the decision of which she seeks review. Rather, Ms. Fonte relies upon a prior decision of the Fourth District, *Romano v. Manor Care, Inc.*, 861 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), as the basis for this Court's jurisdiction. Even if these opinions did conflict, this would only create an "intradistrict" conflict and this

Court does not have discretionary jurisdiction over intradistrict conflicts.

As discussed in the Notes to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030, this Court's jurisdiction over purely intradistrict conflicts, was terminated by the 1980 Amendment to Rule 9.030. See also *Jones v. State*, 790 So. 2d 1194, 1196 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (recognizing that Florida Supreme Court does not have jurisdiction over alleged intradistrict conflicts). There is an established procedure for the resolution of intradistrict conflicts; it is through en banc proceedings as set out in Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.331. Ms. Fonte could have requested an en banc rehearing under Rule 9.331(d), she failed to do so. In addition, the Fourth District which has previously issued en banc opinions on cases dealing with enforceability of arbitration provisions, chose not to do so in this case. See generally *Blankfeld v. Richmond Health Care, Inc.*, 902 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) (en banc opinion regarding on a case dealing with enforceability of arbitration provision).

There is a rule of law which states that in cases of genuine intradistrict conflict, it is the decision that was issued later in time that overrules the former as the decisional law in the district. See *State v. Walker*, 593 So.

2d 1049 (Fla. 1992) (citing *Little v. State*, 206 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1968)). Therefore, even if there was any conflict between the Fourth District's opinion in this case and its earlier decision in *Romano*, this opinion would control.

Further, there is no express or direct conflict on the face of the decision which would provide the Court with discretionary jurisdiction. Pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(3), the Court can only exercise its subject-matter jurisdiction over opinions of a district court that address a point of law, within the four corners of the opinion itself, that is contrary to a decision of the Court or another district court of appeal. *The Florida Star v. B.J.F.*, 530 So. 2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1988). The Fourth District's decision in this case does not meet that requirement. The Fourth District's opinion, however, distinguished its *Romano* decision on the facts. See generally *Hill v. Hill*, 778 So. 2d 967 (Fla. 2001) (finding that Court cannot exercise discretionary jurisdiction where there is no express and direct conflict within the four corners of the opinion).

**III. Discretionary Jurisdiction May Not Be Exercised to Pass on a Question Which Has Not Been Certified of Great Public Importance**

Although the Florida Constitution also permits the exercise of discretionary jurisdiction to "pass upon a

question certified to be of great public importance" that section does not provide jurisdiction in this matter because the Fourth District did not certify any question to be of great public importance. Article V, § 3(b)(5), Fla. Const; Fla. R. Civ. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(v).

This Court may only review questions of great public importance that are **actually certified** by a district court of appeal. See *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston*, 655 So. 2d 91, 92 n.1 (Fla. 1995); see also *Whitaker v. Jacksonville Expressway Auth.*, 131 So. 2d 22, 23 (Fla. 1961)("Inherent in every decision rendered by a District Court of Appeal is the implication, unless otherwise stated or contrary action taken, that it does not pass upon a question of great public interest . . ."). The Fourth District did not certify that the decision involved a question of great public importance. Therefore, there is no basis for discretionary jurisdiction.

Ms. Fonte claims that this case is of particular importance due to the nature of her claims and the class action relief sought. Ms. Fonte's case did not present a question of first impression or one of great public importance. As stated above, the analysis that the Fourth District engaged in to determine whether the arbitration provision was unconscionability is a well-established analysis

of the facts found by the trial court. The Fourth District applied this analysis to the unique facts of Ms. Fonte's case and determined there was no procedural unconscionability.

Similarly, the grounds for this Court's exercise of discretionary jurisdiction, as established by the Florida Constitution, do not include appeals to general public policy, like Ms. Fonte asserts here. Article V, § 3(b), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A). Ms. Fonte's complaint about AT&T Wireless has been fully aired and does not give rise to jurisdiction here.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should dismiss Ms. Fonte's petition for review because she has not established a basis for this Court's discretionary jurisdiction under Article V of the Florida Constitution. Ms. Fonte exercised her right to appeal the trial court's Order to the Fourth District. The Fourth District engaged in a thorough analysis and de novo review of the law applied by the trial court. There is simply no basis for a common law certiorari in this case to allow Ms. Fonte a second appeal.